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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS
JOANNA R. YBARRA,
Plaintiff,
Case No. 19-2644-DDC-K GG

V.

EXPERIAN INFORMATION SOLUTIONS,
INC.,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This matter comes before the court on ddét Experian Infornteon Solutions, Inc.’s
Motion for Judgment on theleadings (Doc. 22) on Count | piaintiff's Petiion (Doc. 1-1).
Plaintiff filed a Response to@motion (Doc. 27) and defenddid a Reply (Doc. 31). The
court considers the motion ancktparties’ various argumentsl®e and, for reasons explained
by this Order, deniedefendant’s motion.
|. Factual Background

When considering a motion for judgment oe fileadings under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(c), the court accepts the well-pleéaletdal allegations in the complaint as true
and views them in the light mbfavorable to plaintiff. Ramirez v. Dep’t of Corr222 F.3d
1238, 1240 (10th Cir. 2000). Applying this stand, the followingdcts from plaintiff's

Petitiort (Doc. 1-1) govern defendant’s motion.

! A brief explanation about the naming conventiagsed in this Order: the court uses the term

“Petition” because plaintiff originally filed this actiam the District Court of Wyandotte County, Kansas.
She properly used the term Petition to describe her initial pleading $kekan. Stat. Ann. § 60-207(a),
and since our court docketed that pleading using the same desigsed¢idoc. 1-1, this Order refers to
the pleading in the same fashion. Also, the mgarty here is defendant Experian Information
Solutions, Inc. It is the lone remaining defend&®d, for simplicity, this Order refers to defendant
Experian simply as “defendant.”

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/kansas/ksdce/2:2019cv02644/128934/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/kansas/ksdce/2:2019cv02644/128934/62/
https://dockets.justia.com/

Case 2:19-cv-02644-DDC-KGG Document 62 Filed 11/19/20 Page 2 of 21

Plaintiff filed for bankruptcyn the District of Kansas ictober 2014. Doc. 1-1 at 3
16; Doc. 23 at 5 n.2.“After the bankruptcyaction] was filed, Plairiff was issued two credit
cards” by the Bank of Missouri teegin rebuilding her creditid. at 3—4 {1 17-18. “Plaintiff
received a discharge on February 26, 2018 which did not include the tfw]o Bank of Missouri
accounts.”ld. at 4 1 19. After the bankruptcy dischardefendant, a credit reporting agency
(“CRA"), reported the credit cards “as inded in bankruptcand discharged.Id. at 4 § 20.
This report was falseld. at 3 § 22. Defendant’s incorrecpogting of the two credit cards as
discharged in plaintiff's bankiptcy harmed plaintiff's abiljt to rebuild her credit.ld. at 4 19
22-25. Plaintiff contends that defendant trasreasonable means wionitoring or updating
accounts that should not be listedraduded in bankruptcy,” or ‘fgventing[ing] furnishers from
inserting information thatontradicts its system.Id. at 4 § 26.

“On July 23, 2018, Plaintifthrough her bankruptcy attomenotified all Defendants of
the misreporting.”ld. at 4 § 28. Defendant “failed to cortele inaccuracies and reverified to
Plaintiff that the reporting was accuratdd. at 7 § 41. “Plaintiff dsputed the inaccuracy” a
second time.ld. at 6 1 39.

“The credit reports still showhe discharged accounts as ogvand able to be enforced

and collected.”ld. at 4 1 27. “The inaccurate informati negatively reflects upon the Plaintiff,

2 Defendant notes the Petition errondgplists the bankruptcy date &sbruary 2016. Doc. 23 at 5

n.2. The court “may ‘take judicial notice of its ofies and records, as well as facts which are a matter

of public record,” without converting a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgniertirison

v. Spencerds0 F.3d 680, 705 (10th Cir. 2020) (quotifa) v. Hogan 453 F.3d 1244, 1264 n.24 (10th

Cir. 2006)). “However, ‘[tjhe documents may only be considered to show their contents, not to prove the
truth of matters asserted thereinTal, 453 F.3d at 1264 n.24 (quoti@xford Asset Mgmt., Ltd. v.

Jaharis 297 F.3d 1182, 1188 (11th Cir. 2002)). This principle includes the dates when things were filed
with the bankruptcy court. According to the doditthe bankruptcy court in the District of Kansas,

plaintiff filed for bankruptcy in October 2014. Chapter 13 Voluntary Retg Ybarrg No. 14-22502

(Bankr. D. Kan. Oct. 20, 2014), ECF No. 1. The filing date erroneously asserted by the Petition does not
affect the analysis because the bankruptcy filingatitiurred before plaintiff acquired the two Bank of
Missouri credit cards at issue in plaintiff's allegations. Doc. 1-1 at 3 T 17.

2
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Plaintiff's credit repayment histy, and Plaintiff's fnancial responsibiltas a debtor and
Plaintiff's credit worthiness.”ld. at 5 § 31. “Plaintiff's credit@arand potential creditors have
accessed Plaintiff’'s reports while the misrepagy was on the credit report and were
misinformed by Defendants about tRAkintiff's credit worthiness.”ld. at 5 q 30.

Count | of plaintiff's Petitioralleges defendant violatedettrair Credit Reporting Act, 15
U.S.C. 88 1681-1681x. Specifically, plaintiff allsgbat defendant willfully and negligently
violated § 1681e(b) for failingp follow reasonable procedurgsassure accuracy in its
reporting. Doc. 1-1 at 6 1 3&eparately, plaintiff alsdlages defendant willfully and
negligently violated § 1681y failing to use reasonable pestures when reinvestigating
plaintiff's disputes.Id. at 7  42. Defendant now invokes Fedi&kule of Civil Procedure 12(c)
for judgment on the pleadings agdipintiff's two FCRA claims aserted in Count I. Doc. 22.
II. Legal Standard

“A motion for judgment on the pleadings undrarle 12(c) is treated as a motion to
dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) Atl. Richfield Co. v. Farm Credit Bank of Wichi226 F.3d 1138,
1160 (10th Cir. 2000). The cowan grant a motion for judgmeon the pleadings only when
the factual allegations in the Petition fail to “statelaim to relief that is plausible on its face.”
Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). “A claims$&acial plausibility when the
plaintiff pleads factual contentdahallows the court to drawdhreasonable inference that the
defendant is liable for .amisconduct alleged.Ashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(citing Twombly 550 U.S. at 556). Federal RuleGif/il Procedure 8(42) requires the
complaint to provide “a short amdain statement of the claim shaowjithat the pleader is entitled

to relief.” Although thisRule “does not require ‘detailed fael allegations,” it demands more

than “[a] pleading that offersdbels and conclusions’ or ‘a foutaic recitation of the elements
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of a cause of action” which, the Supre@eurt has explained, “will not do.”1d. (quoting
Twombly 550 U.S. at 555).

“Under this standard, ‘the complaint mgste the court reason to believe thas
plaintiff has a reasonéblikelihood of musterig factual support faheseclaims.” Carter v.
United States667 F. Supp. 2d 1259, 1262 (D. Kan. 2009) (qudditye at Red Hawk, L.L.C. v.
Schneider493 F.3d 1174, 1177 (10th Cir. 2007)). haltigh the court musissume that the
Petition’s factual allegations are true, it inét bound to accept as true a legal conclusion
couched as a factual allegationld. at 1263 (quotinggbal, 556 U.S. at 678). “Threadbare
recitals of the elements ofcause of action, supported by meonclusory sitements, do not
suffice™ to state alaim for relief. Bixler v. Foster 596 F.3d 751, 756 (10th Cir. 2010) (quoting
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678). “This is hto say that the factual afjations must themselves be
plausible; after all, they are assed to be true. It is just gay that relief must follow from the
facts alleged.”Silver v. Glass459 F. App’x 691, 695 (10th Cir. 2012) (quotiBgyson v.
Gonzales534 F.3d 1282, 1286 (10th Cir. 2008)).

“[T]he court must liberally construe the pleéagls and make all reasable inferences in
favor of the non-moving party.Brokers’ Choice of Am., Inc. v. NBC Universal, |ri861 F.3d
1081, 1105 (10th Cir. 2017). Thewts function at this stag™is not to weigh potential
evidence that the parties might present at toiai ,to assess whether the plaintiff's complaint
alone is legally sufficient to state airh for which relief may be granted.Tal v. Hogan 453
F.3d 1244, 1252 (10th Cir. 2006) (quotiggtton v. Utah State Sch. for Deaf & Bliid3 F.3d
1226, 1236 (10th Cir. 19998¢ee also Brokers’ Choi¢c@861 F.3d at 1104-05 (dismissal is

appropriate “if the complaint alone is legally insufficient to state a claim”).
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[I1. Analysis

Defendant asks the court to dismiss Count | of plaintiff's Petition in its entirety. This
claim alleges broadly that deféant violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA"), 15 U.S.C.
88 1681-1681x. “Congress enacted [the] FCRA in 28&hsure fair ashaccurate credit
reporting, promote efficiency in the bankisgstem, and protect consumer privacgafeco Ins.
Co. of Am. v. Burrb51 U.S. 47, 52 (2007). Here, plaintifsags two FCRA claims in Count I,
each one invoking a different provision in the AEirst, plaintiff claims thadefendant failed to
use “reasonable procedures to assure maxripassible accuracy” of the information reported
about her. This is an elementatlaim under 15 U.S.C. § 1681le(l9econdCount | asserts
that defendant failed to “condugtreasonable reinvestigation”determine whether information
it had provided about plaintiff—information skaer disputed—was inaccurate. 15 U.S.C. §
1681i(a)(1)(A).

Plaintiff's two claims r& on two distinct duties iposed by the FCRA. Section
1681e(b) of the Act requires thgivlhenever a [CRA] prepares @asumer report it shall follow
reasonable procedures to assure maximumlgesstcuracy of the information concerning the
individual about whom the report relates.” Aféient provision in te Act requires, when a
consumer disputes “the completeness or accuwhapy item of information contained in a
consumer’s file at a [CRA],” the CRA to 6éaduct a reasonable reinvestigation to determine
whether the disputed information is inaccurate atord the current status of the disputed
information, or delete the item from the file” with30 days after receivingptice of the dispute.
15 U.S.C. § 1681li(a)(1)(A). PHiff alleges defendant willfullyand negligently violated both
FCRA provisions thus making defendant liableder § 1681n (willfulziolations) and § 16810

(negligent violations).
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Defendant makes three arguments suppoitingquest for judgmermmgainst both of
Count I's claims.First, defendant argues that Count | failsstate an inaccumtreporting claim
under 8§ 1681e(b). Defendant cemds that it cannot incur FCR#ability for inaccurately
reporting information about plaiffts bankruptcy because theClRA doesn’t require a CRA like
defendant to analyze complex legal documenth as bankruptcy filings when compiling a
consumer reportSeconddefendant contends plaintiff faiis state a reasonable reinvestigation
claim under 8§ 1681i based on her tpast-bankruptcy petition crécdcards. Defendant argues
that plaintiff alleges no facts pable of supporting a finding thatfailed to renvestigate her
dispute reasonablyLast and even if plaintiff has stated BERA claim, defendant contends she
has alleged no facts capable of supporting arfaqthat it “willfully” violated the FCRA. The
court addresses each argument, in turn, below.

A. Does Plaintiff Sufficiently Plead that Defendant Violated § 1681e(b) for
Reporting I naccur ate Information on a Consumer Credit Report?

Controlling authority from ou€ircuit identifies the elements of an inaccurate reporting
claim under 8§ 1681e(b). In our Quit, such a claim requires protvfat: (1) defendant “failed to
follow reasonable procedures to assure the acguwf its reports; (Zhe [credit] report in
guestion was, in fact, inaccura(8) [plaintiff] suffered injury and (4) [defendant’s] failure
caused [plaintiff's] injury.” Wright v. Experian Info. Sol., Inac805 F.3d 1232, 1239 (10th Cir.
2015) (quotingeller v. Trans Union, LLC739 F.3d 467, 473 (10th Cir. 2018¢rt. denied572
U.S. 1101 (2014)).

The current motion only challenges the plegdufficiency of thisormulation’s first
elementj.e., whether plaintiff adequately pleadeathiefendant “failed to follow [the]
reasonable procedures” requirerhef a § 1681e(b) claimSeeDoc. 23 at 1. According to

defendant’s papers, “[c]ourtsutinely h[o]ld that § 1681e(b) does not require CRAs to engage
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in the type of legally complicated analysisiRtiff's argument would require.” Doc. 23 af 8.
Defendant asks the court to find defendant’s pdoces reasonable as a matter of law because
“there is no reason why [defendhoould not or should not rely ahe furnisher othe debt to
accurately report to it the debsgatus without some allegatitimat the furnisher was known to
be unreliable or untrustworthy ld. Defendant then asserts, “tRERA does not, as a matter of
law, require CRAs to engageam individualized and legally aaplicated review of bankruptcy
dockets and similar legal procergds to form its own conclusiomdout a debt’s technical legal
status.” Id. at 2. The FCRA is not a strict liabilistatute, defendant oectly points out, and
simply pleading an inaccuracy, by itsaddnnot sustain aaiim under § 1681eld. at 8.

Plaintiff responds that tHeeasonableness” componenttbé reasonable procedures
element presents a jury questanmd plaintiff merely must pleaah inaccuracy to “establish a
prima facie case under § 1681e(b).” Doc. 27 at RIQintiff also assest—albeit not in her
Petition—that defendant already uses a pre-thgiky reporting procedure in the Chapter 7
bankruptcy context, and defendaeasonably could apply theame procedure to Chapter 13
post-bankruptcy reporting. Do27 at 9-14. According to plaintiffhis approach would prevent

inaccuracies like the one alleged in this casetirilswo active credit cards as discharged in

3 Plaintiff's Petition also alleges defendant hagessonable means of “prevent[ing] furnishers
from inserting information that contradicts its systerdc. 1-1 at 4 § 26. Defendant argues plaintiff
fails to plead any facts supporting a plausibleririee “that [defendant] prevents furnishers from
conveying information post-bankrupttyDoc. 23 at 8-9, 13—-14. Plaintiff's response doesn’t address
this argument.SeeDoc. 27. So, the plaintiff may haabandoned its allegation that defendant
“prevent[ed] furnishers fromanveying information post-bankruptcy.” Doc. 1-1 at 4 | 3&e Hinsdale

v. City of Liberal, Kan.19 F. App’x 749, 768-69 (10th Cir. 20Q&ffirming district court's dismissal of
plaintiff's equal protection claim after it concludidat plaintiff had abandoned the claim because he had
not addressed it in his memorandapposing summary judgmengge also C.T. v. Liberal Sch. Djst.
562 F. Supp. 2d 1324, 1337 (D. Kan. 2008) (concluthag plaintiff had abandoned his retaliation claim
by not responding to defendant’s motion for summary judgment against the claim).

7
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bankruptcy.ld. at 11 (citing Approval Order Regiing Settlement and Relea¥#hite v.
Experian Info. Sols., IncNo. 05-1070-DOC-MLG (C.D. Cal. Aug. 19, 2008), ECF No. 338).

The reasonableness requirement adopt&dlié81e(b) generally requires a fact-laden
inquiry. As our Gicuit recognized iWright, “[o]ther circuitsapplying § 1681e(b) have
recognized the ‘reasonableness of the piopes’ is a fact-dependent inquiryW/right, 805 F.3d
at 1239 (citingGuimond v. Trans Union Credit Info. Cd5 F.3d 1329, 1333 (9th Cir. 1995)).

This recognition doesn’t meanatha trial is required in every reasonable procedures case,
however. InWright, for example, the Tenth Circuit affied a district couis decision awarding
summary judgment based on thagenable procedures element of a § 1681e(b) claim. 805 F.3d
at 1241. As the district court had done, the @iriseld that the “CRAsteliance on LexisNexis
to report the tax lien on [plaintifflredit report was reasonableld. So, the Circuit affirmed
“the district court’s detenination that the CRAs employeedasonable procedures under §
1681e(b) . . . ."Id.

Wright's view of this issue isn’t an outlier. @al sister circuithave recognized that
it's appropriate, in the righdircumstances, to grant summandgment agairisa 8 1681e(b)
claim based on the reasonaplecedures elemenSee, e.gCrabill v. Trans Union, LLC259
F.3d 662 (7th Cir. 2001). I@rabill, Judge Posner concluded thraasonableness” in the FCRA
context “cannot be resolved on summjaiggment unless the reasonableness or
unreasonableness of the prdeees is beyond questionld. at 664. But, Judge Posner also
cautioned that “determination of the ‘reasonabéshef the defendant’s procedures, like other
guestions concerning the applicatiof a legal standard to given facts (notably negligence, a
failure to exercise reasonaldare), is treated as a factgglestion even when the underlying

facts are undisputed.ld. The Third Circuit has expressed a similar view. “[T]he
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reasonableness of a credit reporting agency’sguhares is ‘normally guestion for trial unless
the reasonableness or unreasonablendab® @irocedures is beyond questionCbrtez v. Trans
Union, LLC 617 F.3d 688, 709 (3d Cir. 2010) (quotiarver v. Experian Info. SpB90 F.3d
969, 971 (7th Cir. 2004)¥)ee also Cahlin v. Gen. Motors Acceptance C&p6 F.2d 1151,
1156 (11th Cir. 1991) (determiningetheasonableness of procedufesl be a jury question in
the overwhelming majoritpf cases.”).

Here, the case hasn’t reached the summatlyment stage. Insad, defendant’s motion
asks the court to enter judgment againstg§1681e(b) claim by holding that defendant’s
procedures are reasonabbsed on facts alleged in the pleadirghe procedural equivalent of
a motion to dismiss. To be sure, some totincluding this one—have resolved § 1681e(b)
claims at the motion to dismiss stage. But tltksenissals all turned cglements other than the
reasonable procedures element. For examplgeorge v. Chex Systems, |[ntudge Marten of
our court dismissed a § 1681e(b) claim uridele 12(b)(6). 16-2450-JTM, 2017 WL 119590, at
*2 (D. Kan. Jan. 12, 2017). But the court dismissed claim because plaintiff had failed to
allege that his credit report contained an inaccuréty.

Defendant’s motion here doesn’t direat ttourt to a single sa where a court has
granted judgment on the pleadings based emdhsonable procedures element. Nor has
defendant identified a case granting a Rii¢h)(6) motion based on this element. This
omission is telling, buit’s not decisive.TwomblyandIgbal still require plaintiff to plead
“factual content that allows the court to drawe tleasonable inference that defendant is liable for
the misconduct alleged.lgbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (discussiigvombly 550 U.S. at 556). As

applied here, this requirement obligated piéitd plead facts—not just conclusions or
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rhetorical flourishes—allowing seasonable jury to find that fdmdant failed to use reasonable
procedures. The Petition’s allégens on this front are meager.

In paragraph 26, the Petition alleges thattwo Credit Reporting Agency defendants
“have no reasonable means of monitoring or updadiccounts that should not be listed as
included in bankruptcy after it ®ps credit reports” followp a discharge from bankruptcy.
Doc. 1-1 at 4. Plaintiff alsalleges that defendants havereasonable means to “prevent][]
furnishers from inserting infaation that contradicts its system for” credit swedgs. These
allegations make for a close call because, inesceal sense, they sound like the inadequate
“labels and conclusions” or “a fowrtaic recitation of the elementsf the claim. Such mantras,
the Supreme Court has emphasized, just won'tigloal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citingfwombly 550
U.S. at 555). But on the other side of the argnt, plaintiff's factuhtheory alleges that
defendant applied no “means obnitoring or updating accounts”aha credit report shouldn’t
list. Doc. 1-1 at 4 1 26. Plaintiff's Responsahe motion amplifies hdactual theory of the
case. There, she argues that defendant yseskankruptcy reporting pcedure in the Chapter
7 bankruptcy context, defendant reasonably capfaly that same procedure to Chapter 13 post-
bankruptcy reporting, and it hasnioc. 27 at 9-14. Given that thssplaintiff's factual theory
of the reasonable procedures element of her cligrifficult to identify how much more she
could have alleged.

By a narrow margin, plaintiff has gime'the court reason to believe thhis plaintiff has
a reasonable likelihood of mustaygifactual support” fiothis element of he§ 1681e(b) claim.
Ridge at Red Hawk, LL@93 F.3d at 1177. Given these alkwas and defendant’s failure to
identify any case granting a motion to dismisse for judgment on ¢hpleadings based on the

reasonable procedures element, the couniedaedefendant’s motion for judgment on the

10
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pleadings against Count I's 8 1681e(b) claimmd&iwill tell whether @intiff can muster the
requisite factual support torsive summary judgmd. For now, though, the court concludes
that plaintiff has dischaegl her pleading burden.

B. Does Plaintiff Sufficiently Plead a Violation of § 1681i for Failing to Use
Reasonable Proceduresin Reinvestigation?

Next, the court turns to @intiff's 8 1681i claim allegig defendant used unreasonable
procedures in its reinvestigation. Defentdargues, “Plaintifhas identified nothing
unreasonable about [defendant]’s reinvestigatiaininstead premises thelaim solely on the
continued existence of an inaccuracy in her credit report—a theory of liability not supported by
the FCRA.” Doc. 23 at 15. Defendant argpksntiff's Petition can be read to allege
“[defendant] received and pragsed Plaintiff’'s dispute, commuwaited the dispute to Bank of
Missouri, and ensured that thédrmation in Plaintiff's credit file was consistent with the Bank
of Missouri’s response.ld. Defendant argues thttis is a reasonabteinvestigation under 15
U.S.C. § 1681i, asmatter of law.Id.

Plaintiff responds, arguing thdefendant essentially “pated” information when it
marked the two credit cards asrgeincluded in the bankruptcyitout further investigation and
defendant thus performed an iffgtient reinvestigation. Do@7 at 14. Plaintiff alleges she
disputed the credit card accoumformation presented on her crediport twice. Doc. 1-1 at 4
28, 6 1 39. Plaintiff also alleges defendamesfronded by contacting the Bank of Missouri to
notify it of Plaintiff's dispute, in response to which the Bank of Missouri either failed to
acknowledge the disputes or provided [defendaith false informaton about [p]laintiff's
credit cards.” Doc. 23 at 15 (citing Doc. 1-17a8 1 41, 47). Plaintiirgues that defendant, at

minimum, should have deleted timbormation if it couldn’t verifyit instead of continuing to

11
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report the inaccuracy. Doc. 271at. Plaintiff assertthese facts support a plausible finding that
defendant failed to use reasonable proceduaris reinvestigation.The court agrees.

The court concludes that phaiff has pleaded a plausibééaim under 15 U.S.C. § 1681i
that defendant failed to use “szmable procedures” in its remstigation of the inaccurate
information after plaintiff notifid defendant twice dhe inaccuracies. “Sections 1681e(b) and
1681li(a) require CRASs to assure the accurddpheir consumer files and reportsCollins v.
Diversified Consultants Inc754 F. App’x 714, 720 (10th Cir. 2018). “To prevail on a 8
1681li(a) claim . . . plaintiffs must prove essditithe same elements those for a § 1681e(b)
claim—unreasonable procedures in reinvestigaingport, inaccuracy of the report, injury, and
causation—in addition to proving they informed the CRA about the inaccurddy &t 720-21
(quotingWright, 805 F.3d at 1242).

“Although § 1681li(a) does not define the téremasonable reinvestigation,” courts have
consistently held a reasonable reinvestaatequires more thdmaking only a cursory
investigation into the reliability of infornti@n that is reported to potential creditorsWright,

805 F.3d at 1242 (quotingortez v. Trans Union, LLG17 F. 3d 688, 713 (3d Cir. 2010)).
“Judgment as a matter of law, even if appiajeron a 8§ 1681e(b) claim, thus may not be
warranted on a § 1681i(a) claimCushman v. Trans Union Cord.15 F.3d 220, 225 (3d Cir.
1997). *[A] credit reporting agencthat has been notified of muitially inaccurate information
in a consumer’s credit report is in a very different position than one who has no such notice.”
Wright, 805 F.3d at 124@juotingHenson v. CSC Credit Ser29 F.3d 280, 286 (7th Cir. 1994)
(internal quotationsrad citations omitted)). “In shortyhen one goes from the 8 1681e(b)
investigation to the § 1681i(&@ investigation, the likelihood th#ihe cost-benefit analysis will

shift in favor of the consuer increases markedly.’Id. (quotingCushman115 F.3d at 225).

12
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“The question of whether a reinvestigation issenable is generally ofigr the jury, except ‘in
cases where CRAs clearly employ reasonable groes, the issue may be decided on summary
judgment.” Pembroke v. Trans Union, LL.Glo. 16-CV-03194-CMA-STV, 2017 WL 8897173,
at *8 (D. Colo. Oct. 27, 2017) (quotiyright, 805 F.3d at 1239).

“[W]here a CRA is affirmatively on notice @t information receive from a creditor may
be suspect, it is unreasonableaawatter of law for the agency to simply verify the creditor’s
information through the [automated consumespdie verification] process without additional
investigation.” Bradshaw v. BAC Home Loans Serv., BP6 F. Supp. 2d 1066, 1073-74 (D. Or.
Sept. 27, 2011). “A credit reporting agency cannigtaoa the fact that it] has established some
procedures, but must prove by a preponderahtiee evidence that such procedures are
reasonable to address the specific dispute preserited.V. Security Check, LL.8lo. 3:09-cv-
421-J-12TEM, 2010 WL 3075673, at *12 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 5, 2010).

“The grave responsibility imposed by 8 16&)imust consist of something more than
merely parroting informatioreceived from other sourcesCrane v. Trans Union, LL(282 F.
Supp. 2d 311, 317 (E.D. Pa. 2003) (quottwghman115 F.3d at 225). “Therefore, a
reinvestigation that melgeshifts the burden back to thersumer and the credit grantor cannot
fulfill the obligations coremplated by the statuteld. The “obligation to conduct a reasonable
investigation may increase the cost and expéos CRA,” but, “it is the necessary cost
associated with discharging the congressiomayndated duties . . . and, in the majority of
cases, such as this, it passes to the tritxobtto decide whether the CRA fulfilled its
obligations.” Burke v. Experian Info. Sols., In&No. 1:10-cv-1064(AJT/TRJ), 2011 WL
1085874, at *7 (E.D. Va. Mar. 18, 2011). Barke the court held it could not determine at the

summary judgment stage that the CRA bkatployed reasonable procedures in its

13
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reinvestigation because, in part, “the consuraports that [the CRA] prepared based on the
responses it did receive from [thenisher] not only failed tindicate thathe [furnisher]
account was disputed but also stateat the account was ‘verified.'Ild. The CRA “refused to
do anything further” in response the consumer’s letter notifyg the CRA of the disputdd.

The court thus determined a reasonable fadifi could find the CRA “acted reasonably under
the circumstances” but it alsowdd reach the opposite conclusidid. So, summary judgment
wasn’t warrantedld.

Unlike the § 1681e(b) claim, the parties sypple court with seval cases deciding a
Rule 12(c) motion on a § 1681i clainkor example, the Eastern Dist of Virginia held that
plaintiff sufficiently had pleaded claim under thiprovision by alleging that he reported an
inaccuracy several times and the inaacyrremained on his credit repoHintz v. Experian
Info. Sols., InG.No. 3:10-cv-535-HEH, 2010 WL 4025061, at *6 (E.D. Va. Oct. 13, 2010). It
explained, the “decisive inquiry [when evalugtia 8 1681i claim] isvhether the defendant
credit bureau could have uncovered the inaccufatiad reasonably reinvestigated the
matter.” Id. (QquotingDeAndrade v. Trans Union LLG23 F.3d 61, 68 (1st Cir. 2008)). Because
plaintiff had alleged that he reported an inaccuy it remained on his credit report, the court
found “these allegations are safént to state a claim teelief that is plausible.d.

The other cases defendaites in its MemorandunseeDoc. 23 at 16, don’t support its
argument that the court should hdklireinvestigation practicesid procedures reasonable as a
matter of law. The Tenth Circuit, Wright, analyzed the cost and burden placed on a CRA if it
employed the procedures proposed bymnpifiat the summar judgment stageWright, 805
F.3d at 1243. After the court evaluated allsbenmary judgment evides, it determined the

CRA'’s reinvestigation reasobke for three reasondd. at 1242—-43.First, plaintiff could not
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prove that “hiring tax expertst the CRAs to examine” the tawcuments at issue would have
produced a different resultd. Secongdthe CRA could not contathe IRS, like plaintiff
suggested, because the CRAs never receive@aseefrom plaintiff for his tax informationd.
at 1243-44. Anthird, a reasonable reinvestigation does require CRAs to determine the
legal validity of a debt which is aduestion for a court to resolve.1d. at 1245 (quoting
DeAndrade 523 F.3d at 68). This analysis doesit’the facts thagovern this motion.
According to the Petition, defendant could disaothe two credit cards were not discharged
after an investigation because it was not listed on the bankruptcy filings (Doc. 1-1 at 4 1 19).
Here, defendant could access the bankruptcyrdsdo verify or invetigate the dispute by
plaintiff (Doc. 23 at 5—6 (noting plaintiff's lmkruptcy filings were public record)), unlike
Wright where the CRA couldn’t access plaingfifRS filings without a releasaNright, 805
F.3d at 1243. And here, defendant does not aigl¢he inaccuracy iplaintiff's credit report
nor argue that plaintiff iasking it to determine thedtjal validity” of the debtSeeDoc. 23.

In Davis v. Equifax Information Services LLiie court granted summary judgment for a
CRA after discovery showed the CRA had “contadkedoriginal furnisher of information and
forwarded the disputed information to theditor as required by § 1681i.” 346 F. Supp. 2d
1164, 1175 (N.D. Ala. 2004). The court evaluatezlsummary judgment facts, which included
admissible evidence establishing the procedilme<CRA employed iits investigation.See id.
The procedures included contacting the furnigtie¢he information andeleting any information
the CRA couldn’t verify.Id. at 1175. But the facts allegbdre, which govern the current
analysis, establish that defenddidn’t look to other sourcesf information or delete the

information after notice by plaiiff. Doc. 27 at 14.
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Nor does the analysis Pembroke v. Trans Union, LL.@pply here. No. 16-CV-03194-
CMA-STV, 2017 WL 8897173 (D. Colo. Oct. 27, 201 Mhere, the Colorado federal court
granted a motion to dismiss after it determineat tHaintiff had failedo plead an inaccuracy
and, instead, “attempt[ed] to mount an improgafateral attack on thunderlying debt.”ld. at
*8. The court noted “if the consumer has alreadydied the validity of th debt in a judicial
action, he may have a valid claim under the FGRAe CRA, upon notice of the adjudication of
the debt, continues to improperly report itd. at *7. But here, defendant doesn’t contend that
plaintiff has pleaded no inaccuracgeeDoc. 23.

Unlike defendant’s cases, plaintiff sufeaitly pleads an inaccuracy in her report.
Additionally, plaintiff alleges she notified defendant twice oé tihaccuracies in her report. The
inaccuracy in her report and her notificationslébendant plead a plausible claim that defendant
failed to use reasonable procedures in itsvestigation by continuig to report inaccurate
information. Defendant mushew its reinvestigation consistefl more than relying on the
initial source of information after notification by plaintifsee Crang282 F. Supp. 2d at 317.
So, defendant is not entitléol dismissal on these fact$he Petition’s factuadllegations and the
reasonable inferences they permit, when vieimgaaintiff's favor, plead a plausible claim
under 15 U.S.C. § 1681.i.

C. Has Plaintiff Sufficiently Pleaded Defendant Willfully Violated the FCRA?

Last the court considers whethgaintiff sufficienty has pleaded willful violations of
the FCRA. Defendant argues it “cannot havifuliy violated § 1681e(b) by simply reporting
the data it received from the Blaof Missouri, because coutisive repeatedly found this
reasonable as a matter of law.” Doc. 23 at 1ainkff responds, asserting that the “willfulness”

issue is one that the court cannegolve at the Rule 12(c) s&afpr on a motion to dismiss).
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Doc. 27 at 20-21. Plaintiff also argues that déémt’s “parroting” information from furnishers
creates a substantial risk to consumédsat 18—20. Defendant doestmespond to plaintiff’s
argument that willfulness requires a factdxhanalysis best determined by a juBeeDoc. 31.

The FCRA does not define willful, proviaj simply that “[a]ny person who willfully
fails to comply with any requirement imposeader this subchapterith respect to any
consumer is liable to that consumer” for additibdamages. 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a). Our Circuit

defines a “willful’ violation [as] either an intdional violation or a violation committed by an
agency in reckless disregard of its duties under the FCBA&rhingham v. Experian Info. Sols.,
Inc., 633 F.3d 1006, 1009 (10th Cir. 2011) (citidgfeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. BuE51 U.S. 47,
57-58 (2007)). The Circuit also explains tHdecklessness is nasured by ‘an objective
standard: action entaitjran unjustifiably high risk of haritmat is either known or so obvious
that it should be known.”1d. (quotingSafecp551 U.S. at 68). “[Alcompany subject to FCRA
does not act in reckless disregafdt unless the action is nonly a violation under a reasonable
reading of the statute’s termsyt shows that the companyra risk of violating the law
substantially greater than the risk associated with a reading that was merely cariless.”
(quotingSafecp551 U.S. at 69%ee also Llewellyn v. Allstate Home Loans,,Ifigl F.3d 1173,
1183-84 (10th Cir. 2013) (affirmg decision granting summajiydgment against willful
violation claim after the plaintiff failed tmtroduce evidence showirtgfendant’s delay in
removing the inaccurate information was caused by recklessiggs3ee Burns v. Trans
Union, LLC No. 4:18-03120-MGL, 2019 WL 3890833, at *3 (D.S.C. Aug. 19, 2019) (“As a
consumer, [plaintiff] is unable tplead [furnisher]’s specifierrors during their internal

investigation withoutliscovery.”) (citingFelts v. Wells Fargo Bank, N,A893 F.3d 1305, 1313

(11th Cir. 2018)). The Distriaif South Carolina reasoned tlmatjuiring plainiffs to plead
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specific instances or errors dugian investigation created thigh a burden “in light of the
limited information available to [plafiff] at this stageof litigation.” Id. at *4.4

The court does not view these authoriiesnconsistent with the pleading duties
imposed inTwomblyandigbal. “A defendant’s willfulness mudte adequately pled in the
complaint for a plaintf to sustain her cause of actionRawlings v. ADS Alliance Data Sys.,
Inc., No. 2:15-cv-04051-NKL, 2015 WL 3866885, at *5 (W.D. Mo. June 23, 2015).
“[A]ssertions that [a defendant] was awankthe FCRA, but failedo comply with its
requirements, are sufficient tagport an allegation of willfulres and to avoid dismissal.Td.
(quotingMiller v. Quest Diagnosti¢:14-CV-04278-SRB, 85 F. Supp. 3d 1058, 1059-61
(W.D. Mo. Jan. 28, 2015)¥ee also In re TIX Co., IndNo. 07-md-1853-KHV, 2008 WL
2020375, at *2 (D. Kan. May 9, 2008) (denying defendambtion to dismés willfulness claim
because “complaint alleges that defendandegrized their statutory duty to limit the
information which appeared on customer recelpis jntentionally ignored that duty and refused
to take steps to comply with g and Accurate Credit Transactiofst] regulations.”). “Since
they frequently involve facts beyond the pleadingsies of willfulness often cannot be resolved
at the motion to dismiss stage.avery v. RadioShack CorfNo. 13-cv-05818, 2014 WL
2819037, at *2 (N.D. Ill. June 23, 2014).

I. Willful Violation of § 1681e’s Marium Possible Accuracy Requirement

Defendant argues, as a matter of law, pieaintiff cannot establish willful violation of

§ 1681e because defendant merely reportedrmdton provided by Bank of Missouri about

4 See also Tillman v. Equifax Info. Servs., LN©. 19-12860, 2020 WL 249004, at *4 (E.D. Mich.
Jan. 16, 2020) (“[T]he plaintiff is not required at fhleading stage to recite an exhaustive inventory of
information overlooked or a litany of steps not takerhi®ydefendant during its investigation. Such a
requirement would hold plaintiffs to an impossibtandard of pleading, since information about the
conduct of the investigation is at this stagéhef case exclusively withithe knowledge of the
defendant.”).
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plaintiff's two credit cards.Doc. 23 at 17. It argues couhave found accurately reporting
information from furnishers is “reasonable"tidut prior notice of sstematic issues or
inaccuracies and, so, plaintiff required to plead additiohfacts supporting willfulness
violation. See id.

Plaintiff responds that defendant’slfiae to employ proedures similar t¥Vhiteshowed
a “willful disregard of reasonable proceduregit@ure maximum possible accuracy.” Doc. 27 at
10 (citingSafeco Ins. Cp551 U.S. 47). Since defendant abtg employs procedures in Chapter
7 pre-petition debts thabuld have preventgaaintiff’'s inaccurate credit report, plaintiff
contends it was reckless notamploy those procedures for piiff’'s Chapter 13 post-petition
debts. See id.

At this stage, the court may infer defendamaccurate reportingesulted from willful or
reckless disregard of FCRA'’s requiremeni®e Birminghant33 F.3d at 1009. And, the court
may infer from the Petition’s lelgations—construed in plaintiff'favor—that diendant relied
upon procedures it knew or should have knownereesi an undue risk of inaccuracies because
it already employed additional procedures aratqmtions for Chapter gre-petition debts under
Whitebecause of similar risksThe court thus denies defeard’s motion on the § 1681e
willfulness violation.

il. Willful Violation of § 1681i's Reamable Reinvestigation Requirement

Defendant argues it “cannot have willfully violated the FCRA” because it is “not required
to engage in an individualizexhd legally complicated revieaf bankruptcy dockets and similar
legal proceedings to form its owonclusions about the debt’s teatalilegal status.” Doc. 23 at
17. Plaintiff responds that her bankruptcy attorney notified defendant of the inacag®@acy (

Doc. 1-1 at 4 1 28) and “[defendéfailed to give this corrg@ndence the credit it was due.”

19



Case 2:19-cv-02644-DDC-KGG Document 62 Filed 11/19/20 Page 20 of 21

Doc. 27 at 19. Plaintiff allege “[a]t a minimum [defendantheuld have deleted the accounts,
but it also failed to do that.Td. Plaintiff argues “[t]here can b& excuse for ignoring a dispute
which included information taken directly frolaintiff's bankruptcy ad supplied by Plaintiff’s
bankruptcy attorney.’ld. at 18. Instead, plaintiff allegesfdadant “engaged in the practice of
parroting its information furnisher, a practice whileads to an unjustifiably high risk of harm
that [defendant] is well aware ofItd. Defendant does not disputettplaintiff alleges she
notified defendant of the inac@ay in her credit report. Maloes defendant deny plaintiff
alleges that defendant relied solely on Bankiafsouri’s reporting een after the notice by
plaintiff's bankruptcy attorng Instead, defendant simply argues that such conduct cannot
constitute unreasonableameestigation measuresseeDoc. 23.

“[O]nce a claimed inaccuracy is pinpada, a consumer reporting agency conducting
further investigation incurs onthe cost of reinvestigating that one piece of disputed
information.” Cushman115 F.3d at 225. “[T]he caselawciear that a reporting agency does
not act reasonably under the FCBAdeferring entirely to anotheource of information. The
grave responsibility imposed Ifhe FCRA] must consist of something more than merely
parroting information receivefllom other sources.Centuori v. Experian Info. Sols., Ind31 F.
Supp. 2d 1002, 1008 (D. Ariz. 2006). Once a consulisputes a reporting, a CRA must look
beyond the information from ¢hcreditor to meet its stabry duties under 8 16815ee Dixon-
Rollins v. Experian Info. Sols., In@53 F. Supp. 2d 452, 459 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 23, 2010) (“[T]he
Third Circuit recently confirmed that a reasonable reinvestigation ‘must mean more than simply .
.. making only a cursory investigation into thieatgility of informationthat is reported to
potential creditors.”) (quotingortez 617 F.3d at 713). “A reasonable jury could find that a

knowing violation of the FCRA wsathe result of defendantgarroting information received
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from other sources.”Campbell v. Chase Manhattan Bank, USA, N\. 02-3489(JWB), 2005
WL 1514221, at *16 (D.N.J. June 27, 200%®)xonsidered on other ground2005 WL 1924669
(D.N.J. Aug. 10, 2005).

At this stage, plaintiff sufficiently pleadswillfulness violation of § 1681i because she
alleges she notified defendanttbé inaccuracy and defendaaintinued inaccurately reporting
the two credit cards as dischargédaking all the facts pleaded &ge, as it must, the court holds
plaintiff has pleaded suéfiently that defendant willfully \alated § 1681i when it relied solely on
Bank of Missouri’'s report eveafter notice from plaintiff it wa inaccurate. The court thus
denies defendant’s motion to dismike willfulness vioation of § 1681i.

IT ISTHEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT defendant’s Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings (Doc. 22) is denied.

IT 1SSO ORDERED.

Dated this 18th day of November, 2020, at K ansas City, Kansas.

g Daniel D. Crabtree

Daniel D. Crabtree
United States District Judge

21



